1986

Metropolitan Property and Liability Insurance Company v. Neal W. Finlayson, Lee Childs, Michelle Childs : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

The issue crucial to this appeal is whether the trial judge erred in denying defendant Child's Motion for Summary Judgment and/or in granting plaintiff Metropolitan's Motion for Summary Judgment by that court's Order dated April 18, 1986.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This action arises from an automobile accident which occurred in Salt Lake City on or about March 30, 1982 wherein defendant Neal W. Finlayson while operating a 1978 Chevrolet pick-up truck collided with an automobile occupied by appellant's late wife Michelle Childs and operated by one Michael B. Barton. The accident resulted in the immediate death of Michelle Childs and bodily injuries to Michael D. Barton. Plaintiff-Appellant Metropolitan Property and Liability Insurance Company commenced this action for declaratory judgment to determine the applicability of the liability provisions of Metropolitan's policy of automobile insurance to claims of appellant Childs and others against Metropolitan's insured operator Neal W. Finlayson. Appellant Childs intervened in the district court action as a party defendant. Following discovery the parties agreed to a stipulated statement of facts dated June 27, 1985, and based upon that stipulation of facts submitted mutual motions for summary judgment.

The trial court, the Honorable David B. Dee, entered an order dated April 18, 1986 denying defendant-appellant Child's motion for summary judgment and granting the motion for summary judgment of plaintiff-respondent Metropolitan. Defendant-appellant Childs appeals from that order of the district court.

From the stipulated statement of facts it is apparent that Mr. Neal Finlayson was intoxicated at the time of the accident and was driving the company owned truck not only without permission from his employer but contrary to his employer's specific instructions.

The specific policy term at issue provides liability coverage to Neal Finlayson at the times he is operating "non-owned" vehicles. The policy defines, in relevant part a "non-owned" vehicle as being one which is not "available" for the insured's "regular use". The legal meaning of the undefined policy provision "regular use" is the issue for consideration on appeal. The question presented is whether the district court erred in determining as a matter of law that the accident vehicle was one "available" for the insured's "regular use" under the stipulated facts, the policy terms, and applicable decisional law.

The accident vehicle was company-owned and was only to be used from company business. Neal Finlayson was at the time of the accident using the vehicle for a personal purpose even though such use was prohibited by his employer. Appellant's position on appeal is that Neal Finlayson's unauthorized personal use of a business vehicle cannot be construed to imply that the vehicle was one made "available" to him for this "regular use" and exclude such operation from coverage.

The following relevant facts were established for purposes of this appeal by the parties' stipulation:

FACTS

1. Neal and Terri Finlayson, his wife, applied for and were issued an insurance policy from Metropolitan for their 1980 Chevrolet Monte Carlo which became effective subject to the terms and conditions of the policy on November 27, 1980.

2. Defendant Neal W. Finalyson was involved in an automobile accident which occurred on or about March 30, 1982 in Salt Lake City, Utah.

3. Defendant Finlayson was at the time operating a 1978 Chevrolet pickup truck owned by his employer, FINCO Brothers, Inc.

4. The employer directed that all corporate vehicles were to be used only for company purposes and that they were not to be used for any personal use.

5. Most of the company vehicles were parked each night at the company's storage yard.

6. Neal Finalyson was the company mechanic and was often called out at night to repair company equipment. Because of this he kept his repair tools in the 1978 Chevrolet pickup and at the company's request kept the truck to his residence during non-business hours. This allowed him to respond to off-hours repair calls more quickly.

7. During the four year period of his employment prior to March 30, 1982, defendant Neal Finlayson had used the company truck without permission perhaps once or twice for local errands. It was Neal Finalyson's understanding that any personal use of the vehicle required the prior consent or permission of FINCO Brothers Inc.'s management.

8. As part of his business duties, Neal was required to work eight hours each day. The only time he could depart from business activities during those hours was when he obtained prior permission from Max Finlayson of FINCO Brothers, Inc.

9. March 30, 1982 was a slow day at work for defendant Neal Finlayson and his brother Tom. They had been instructed by their employer to drive to a second business location after lunch and do some repair work there for the balance of the day.

10. Neal and Tom decided however to get lunch and then

take the rest of the day off.

11. Tom and Neal went to lunch at about noon. Tom asked Neal to stop at the "Animal House," a bar located at 900 South and State Street in Salt Lake City.

12. Tom and Neal remained at the Animal House until approximately four o'clock that afternoon during which time they consumed a substantial but unknown quantity of beer.

13. Tom and Neal's absence from work that afternoon and their sojourn at the bar were not only unauthorized but their use of the company vehicle for such private purposes was strictly against company policy.

14. The Finlayson brothers left the bar with Neal Finlayson driving the company truck and were on their way home when the accident occurred.

15. These and other relevant facts are as stipulated between the parties.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

Defendant-appellant argues on appeal that the accident vehicle was not one furnished or "available" for the "regular use" of Metropolitan's insured Neal Finlayson, and that the company truck in question was not at the time of the subject accident being used for the purpose for which it was furnished. For either or both of those reasons, defendant-appellant Childs argues that the policy exclusion upon which Metropolitan relies to avoid coverage does not apply.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE ACCIDENT VEHICLE WAS NOT ONE
FURNISHED OR AVAILABLE FOR THE "REGULAR USE"
OF THE INSURED.

Metropolitan's policy insuring Neal and Terri Finlayson generally provides that the insurer will pay, in the insured's behalf, all amounts the insured becomes legally obligated to pay by reason of the use of a non-owned automobile by the insured. The policy defines a "non-owned automobile" as follows:

"Non-owned automobile" means an automobile which is neither owned by nor furnished nor available for the regular use of either the named insured or any relative..."

There is unfortunately no policy definition of the term "regular use". This court must therefore determine whether, under the conditions the accident vehicle was in defendant Neal Finlayson's possession, it was a vehicle furnished or available for his "regular use."

The quoted language constitutes a policy exclusion as to which the plaintiff insurer has the burden of proof in order to avoid coverage. The insurer drafted the exclusion and under well-established Utah law the policy language and any ambiguities or uncertainties in it must be construed strictly against the insurer. Williams v. First Colony Life Insurance Co., 593 P.2d 534 (Utah 1979); American Casualty Co. v. Eagle Ins. Co. Ltd., 568

P.2d 731 (Utah 1977); Bergera v. Ideal National Life Insurance Co., 524 P.2d 599 (Utah 1974); and Christensen v. Farmers Insurance Exchange, 21 Utah 2d 194, 443 P.2d 385 (1968).

It is also basic insurance law that extensions of coverage are to be construed broadly whereas exclusions, exceptions and limitations require a narrow construction; on the theory that the insurer, having affirmatively expressed coverage through broad promises, assumes a duty to define any limitations on such coverage in clear and explicit language. Krug v. Miller's Mutual Insurance Association of Illinois, 209 Kan. 111, 495 P.2d 949 (1972); Roach v. Churchman, 431 F.2d 849 (8th Cir. 1970); Stanley v. Onetta Boat Works, Inc., 431 F.2d 241 (9th Cir 1970); Hahn v. Alaska Title Guaranty Co., 557 P.2d 143 (Alaska 1976); Mission Insurance Co. v. Nethers, 119 Ariz. 405, 581 P.2d 250 (1978); Brenner v. Aetna Insurance Co., 8 Ariz. App. 272, 445 P.2d 474 (1968); and Beeson v. State Auto & Casualty Underwriters, 32 Colo. App. 62, 508 P.2d 402, aff'd 183 Colo. 284, 416 P.2d 623 (1973).

As indicated, Metropolitan has chosen language which it has elected to leave undefined in the policy. The meaning of the chosen language is therefore unclear, uncertain, and ambiguous. To that extent strict construction against its creator is demanded.

The term "regular use" has been judicially defined as follows:

The phrase "regular use"...denotes continuous use; uninterrupted normal use for all purposes; without limitations as to use; and customary use as opposed to occasional use or special use.

Travelers Indemnity Co. v. Hudson, 15 Ariz. App. 371, 488 P.2d 1008 at 1012 (1979). See also Eureka v. Security Fire & Marine Insurance Co. v. Simon, 401 P.2d 759 (Arizona, 1965); Safeco Insurance Co. of America v. Thomas, 224 Cal. App. 2d 209, 52 Cal Rptr. 910 (1966).

With but two exceptions during the proceeding four years, defendant Neal Finlayson never had the right to use any company truck for his personal use. What he had was not the right to the "uninterrupted normal use" of the company truck. Outside of his business use of company vehicles, those vehicles were available to him only on rare occasions and with prior authorization from his employer. This was a strict limitation placed upon use of the truck by the employer from the time the truck was purchased. The two times Neal Finlayson used the truck for unauthorized errands can only be considered as "occasional" and not "customary" or "uninterrupted normal use". Under the quoted authority the availability of the truck to Neal Finlayson could not be considered "regular use" for purposes of application of the exclusionary clause of the policy.

The Supreme Court of New Jersey has defined the term "regular use" for these purposes as "some plenary right to use. ." (emphasis added) Di Orio v. New Jersey Manufacturers Insurance Co., 63 N.J. 597, 311 A.2d 378, 381 (1973). Considering the strict limitations which were imposed on personal use by an employee, it cannot be argued that Neal Finlayson had any "plenary" right to use the accident vehicle. His use was limited

to business purposes only and Such use could not therefore be considered "regular use" by the Di Orio standard. Neither would it be considered "regular use" under Southern Railway Co. v. State Farm Mutual Insurance Co., where it was held that "permission to use an automobile only to go to and from work, requiring special permission to use it at other times, is not considered regular use." Id. 357 F. Supp. 810 (Georgia 1972).

In Farm Bureau Mutual Auto Insurance Co. v. Marr, 128 F. Supp. 67 (DNJA55), the court laid out the following guidelines for determining the meaning of the term "regular use" for insurance purposes:

1. Was the use of the car in question made available most of the time to the insured?
2. Did the insured make more than mere occasional use of the car?
3. Did the insured need to obtain permission to use the car or had that been granted by blanket authority?
4. Was there a purpose for the use of the car in the permission granted if not by blanket authority and was it being used for such purpose?
5. Was it being used in the area where such car would be expected to be used?

Id. at 71.

These guidelines have also been adopted in other states. See Bringle v. Economy Fire & Casualty Co., 169 N.W.2d 879 (Iowa 1969).

In applying these guidelines to the present case we find:

1. The truck in question was a business vehicle and

strict company policy prevented its personal use by any employee. Neal Finlayson's personal use of the truck occurred less than once a year.

2. The infrequent personal use of the company vehicle by Neal Finlayson cannot even be considered as "occasional " personal use.

3. The stated company policy was that there would be no personal use of compnay vehicles without prior permission, and on March 30, 1982 Neal finlayson had no such permission.

4. There was no business purpose involved in Neal Finlayson's trip to the Animal House bar and he had no permission for his use of the truck in that undertaking. He was on a "lark" of his own and not conducting his employer's business from noon that day until the accidnet occurred later in the evening.

5. Neal Finlayson spent his afternoon at the Animal House bar located at about 900 South and State street in Salt Lake City. His employer had instructed him to be at a company shop which was nowhere near the Animal House bar. Neal was not in the area his employer had designated and was not traveling in that direction with any intent to further his employer's business when the accident occurred. The Farm Bureau case outline of the criteria for determining "regular use" is totally unsatisfied by the facts of this case.

Neal Finlayson's business use of the truck should not and cannot be considered as rendering that vehicle available for his "regular use" according to the legal meaning that must be given the term. The policy terms which provide coverage for non-owned

vehicles is obviously intended to cover the insured's personal and occasional use of other vehicles. Such would be the case if he were to have a loaner car from the local garage or if he borrowed the neighbor's car for an occasional emergency or trip to the store. Clearly plaintiff's policy would not cover Mr. Finlayson's operation of the truck during his hours of employment, but in this case he had left work at noon that day and determined that he would not return. Since his use of the company vehicle was unauthorized and without the scope of his employment, he was in fact borrowing a non-owned vehicle for his personal use. Such use falls within the language of the policy provision extending coverage; also within its intended scope.

To consider that because the accident vehicle was assigned to Mr. Finlayson for business use it became available for his "regular use" produces an unreasonable result. In that case the plaintiff's liability would depend not only on Mr. Finlayson's use of the truck at the time of the accident, but it would also depend on which of the company trucks he might have been driving at the time. If he were driving his assigned company truck there would be no coverage under that rational; but if he had switched trucks with another employee that day, there would. Such an interpretation shifts the focus from Mr. Finlayson's personal use of the truck at the time of the accident to the irrelevant question of which company truck was he driving. It should make no difference which of the company trucks he was driving.

POINT II

AT THE TIME OF THE ACCIDENT THE COMPANY TRUCK WAS NOT BEING USED FOR THE PURPOSE FOR WHICH IT WAS FURNISHED AND THE EXCLUSION DOES NOT APPLY.

It is stipulated that when the Finlayson brothers left the bar, they had no intention of working for the rest of the day. The moment they departed from the instructions given them by the employer and began engaging in their afternoon drinking activities the company truck was no longer being used for company business.

The California District Court of Appeals has, in a similar case, held that when a company car which was furnished for business purposes is used to travel a distance of several miles to have a drink after work, the departure constitutes a personal use to which the "regular use" exclusion does not apply. Safeco Insurance Co. of America v. Thomas; 52 Cal. Rptr. 910, 244 Cal. App. 2 204 (1966). See also Nevels v. Hendrix, 367 So.2d 33 (Louisiana 1978).

An automobile is not furnished for "frequent or regular use" within the terms of the policy unless at the time of the accident giving rise to the claim, the automobile is being used by the person for whom it was furnished for the purpose for which it was frequently or regularly used. Kunze v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Co. 197 N.W.2d 685 (North Dakota 1972).

In Schoenknecht v. Prairie State Farmers Insurance Association, 27 Ill. App.2d 83, 169 N.E.2d 148 (1960) the court faced another similar fact situation. There the employer

furnished the insured with a passenger auto to be used by the insured in the performance of his duties in answering complaints made to the employer, Peoples Gas Light and Coke Company. The insured's working hours were from 8:00 A.M. to 4:30 P.M. each weekday, at the end of which he was to return the auto to his employer's place of business. On the day of the accident, the insured made his last call and instead of returning the car to the employer, he drove it to a friend's home. That night, as he left his friends home the accident occurred. The insurance provision in question was substantially the same as that in the instant case. The court ruled that the exclusionary clause did not defeat coverage:

Here this car upon this particular occasion was not being used during business hours or in furtherance of the insured's employers business. It was not, at the time of the accident, furnished to the insured for his regular use. His employer never furnished it to him for any such purpose. He was using the car without his employers knowledge or consent. His use was an unauthorized one. There is nothing in this exclusionary clause which eliminated coverage in the event the car was being operated by the insured without the owners knowledge, permission or consent and in the absence of any such exclusionary provision the policy covered the car the insured was then operating.

Id. at 152 (emphasis added).

In Pacific Auto Insurance Co. v. Lewis, 56 Cal. App.2d 597, 132 P.2d 846 (1943) the court ruled that

[w]hether an auto is furnished by another to an insured for his regular use may reasonably depend upon the time, place and

purpose for which it is to be used. One furnished for all purposes and at all times and places would clearly be for his regular use. One furnished at all times but strictly for business purposes alone could hardly be said to have been furnished for his regular use at a time and place when it was being used for personal purposes.

Id. at 848 (emphasis added).

It is obvious from the quoted stipulated facts that the accident vehicle was to be used only for company purposes and not for personal use. Personal use required the prior consent of the employers management, which was not obtained on the occasion of the accident. The drunk driving after having abandoned any notion of working the rest of the day was obviously a personal use.

The Idaho case of Foster vs. Johnstone, supra, approves the following "signposts" for determination of whether "regular use" exists:

3. Did the insured need to obtain permission to use the car or had that been granted by blanket authority?

4. Was there a purpose for the use of the car in permission granted or by the blanket authority and was it being used for such purpose?

5. Was it being used in the area where such car would be expected to be used? (emphasis added, p 807)

It can be readily seen that under the test of plaintiff's 's own cited decision (Foster) "regular use" does not exist in this case. While it is true that Finlayson drove the truck every day in connection with his employment duties, he did not drive it every day in connection with drinking activities unrelated to his employment and unauthorized by his employer.

That had never happened before and was, to say the least, a rare occurrence. Had the accident occurred during the actual pursuit of his employment duties, the exclusion would certainly apply. The fact is it did not. For the exclusion to apply, the plaintiff must establish that Mr. Finallyson's use at the time of the accident was a part of his regular use of the vehicle, which term judicially means:

Continuous use; uninterrupted normal use for all purposes; without limitations as to use; and customary use as opposed to occasional use or special use---some plenary right to use". Travelers, Eureka, Safeco;
(supra p.

The futility of plaintiff's argument for exclusion under the fact of this case can be demonstrated by a simple example. The argument would hold that an airliner or cruise ship is provided for the "regular use" of the pilot or captain because his operation of the ship was "regular" or "frequent"; even though his "use" was always for business purposes only.

Similarly, plaintiff's argument would hold that a vehicle provided an employee for a specific task that required one minute's operation once each day, once each month, or once each year on regular basis was a vehicle provided for the employee's "regular use", and his personal use for unrelated purposes would be excluded.

Such nonsensical results would logically flow from the plaintiff's reasoning. If adopted by this Court or the Supreme Court, absurd results can easily be foreseen.

CONCLUSION

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