1986

# Metropolitan Property and Liability Insurance Company v. Neal W. Finlayson, Lee Childs, Michelle Childs : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

1. The 1978 Chevrolet pick-up truck was not an owned vehicle which was listed on the policy and for which a premium was charged.

2. The 1978 Chevrolet pick-up truck was not a "non-owned" vehicle, as described in the policy, because it was furnished or available (and actually used) for the regular use of Mr. Finlayson.

3. The 1978 Chevrolet pick-up truck was being used by Mr. Finlayson within the scope, course, and authorization of his business use.

#### POINT I

THE 1978 CHEVROLET PICK-UP TRUCK WAS NOT AN OWNED  
VEHICLE WHICH WAS LISTED ON THE METROPOLITAN  
INSURANCE POLICY

The policy of insurance issued by Metropolitan to Mr. Finlayson (attached hereto in the Appendix as Exhibit B) provides, in relevant part:

Metropolitan will pay on behalf of the  
insured all sums which the insured shall

become legally obligated to pay as damages because of bodily injury sustained by other persons, and property damage caused by an occurrence, arising out of the ownership, maintenance or use, including loading or unloading, of the owned automobile, or a non-owned automobile . . .

The term "owned automobile" is defined in the insurance policy as:

(a) A private passenger automobile or utility automobile owned by the named insured and described in the declarations to which the automobile liability coverage of the policy applies and for which a specific premium for such insurance is charged . . .

In this case it is not asserted by Mr. Neal W. Finlayson (hereinafter "Mr. Finlayson") that he owned the 1978 Chevrolet pick-up truck. In fact, it was stipulated (Fact No. 5) that the truck was owned by FINCO Brothers, Inc. However, it is important to note that on the Application for Insurance (attached hereto in the Appendix as Exhibit C) Mrs. Finlayson listed as the described automobile a 1980 Chevrolet Monte Carlo. In the "Remarks" section of the application, Mrs. Finlayson indicated that:

"Also owns a Mustang which Mrs. drives to work and will be added when it comes due.

Mr. drives a company truck to work."

Coverage on the company pick-up truck was never requested under the Metropolitan insurance policy, and coverage was never extended to the pick-up truck. Further, no premium was charged for coverage to extend to the company pick-up truck.

## POINT II

THE 1978 CHEVROLET PICK-UP TRUCK WAS NOT A "NON-OWNED VEHICLE", AS DESCRIBED IN THE POLICY, BECAUSE IT WAS FURNISHED OR AVAILABLE (AND ACTUALLY USED) FOR THE REGULAR USE OF MR. FINLAYSON.

The term "non-owned automobile" is also defined in the policy. The policy states:

"Non-owned automobile" means an automobile which is neither owned by nor furnished nor available for the regular use of either the named insured or any relative, other than a temporary substitute automobile, and includes a utility trailer while used with such automobile.

Coverage can only be afforded to Mr. Finlayson if he is able to establish that the 1978 Chevrolet pick-up truck constitutes a "non-owned automobile" and does not fall within another exclusion of the policy.

The terms "furnished", "available" and "regular use" have been subject to examination by many courts in an attempt to apply their meaning to a particular set of circumstances. The courts have recognized that the terms have different meanings. The term "furnished" connotes actual utilization of the vehicle whereas the term "available" has been construed to "require that the potential use of the automobile be to a substantial degree under the control of the insured". Wagoner v. Wilson, Colo. 507 P.2d 482 (1973) at 485. The term "regular use" has been held to be not ambiguous as a matter of law and "taken in its plain,

ordinary sense is easily understood by the insured to mean that no coverage exists on cars that he or his family may have the right to use regularly". Farmers v. Zumstein, Ariz. App., 675 P.2d 729 (1983).

It is clear that the pick-up truck being driven by Mr. Finlayson at the time of the accident which is the subject of this lawsuit was both "furnished" and "available" for his "regular use" prior to the accident on March 30, 1982. The truck was "furnished" to Neal Finlayson by FINCO Brothers, Inc., for daily use in his work. Mr. Finlayson drove the vehicle to and from work each day. Mr. Finlayson stored his tools in the truck. Mr. Finlayson was the primary operator of the pick-up truck. Because of the nature of his job, he did not need an office. Rather, he "just works out of his truck" (Max Finlayson depo. pg. 14, lines 21-24). In this sense, therefore, the 1978 Chevrolet pick-up truck was furnished to Neal Finlayson and was used by him on a daily basis.

The truck was also "available" to Mr. Finlayson for his use. There was no physical limitation on that use. He was in possession of the vehicle and the keys to the vehicle at all times both during and after work. The truck was stored at his home in the evenings. Mr. Finlayson had used the vehicle on several occasions for personal trips. He occasionally used the truck to run personal errands without obtaining prior permission.



and used the truck to haul lumber from a lumber yard for fencing at his home and used the truck to take a personal trip to Albuquerque, New Mexico. Mr. Finlayson was never refused permission to use the pick-up truck.

Several cases have considered the factual situation wherein an employee uses a company vehicle. In considering whether or not the use of a company car constitutes a "regular use", the courts have addressed the same issues applicable in this case. In Benjamin v. Plains Insurance Company, U.S.C.A. 5th, 650 F.2d 98 (1981) a plaintiff was injured when a vehicle, owned by an employer, was being operated by the daughter of an employee. The vehicle had been furnished to the employee as a "demonstrator". The employee was allowed to drive the vehicle to and from work. It was understood between the employee and the employer that the vehicle was not to be used for personal business. When an accident occurred while the vehicle was being operated by the daughter of the employee, the insurance company which had issued an insurance policy to the employee individually, denied liability under its policy. In addressing the "regular use" of the "non-owned automobile" portion of the policy, the court stated:

It is well established that the purpose of this provision creating an exception to coverage of non-owned vehicles in automobile insurance policies is to make certain that the insured properly pays premiums on all of the vehicles which are regularly used and

therefore are covered by the policy. The non-owned exception, as well as other exceptions involving replacement cars, rental cars, etc., are designed as a convenience to the insured to enable coverage in the case of occasional and sporadic use of such vehicles. To cover a non-owned vehicle regularly used by an insured would cause the insurance company to have to insure vehicles for which the insured did not pay insurance premiums. Douglas Largin (the employee) did not list his vehicle as one of the family cars insured on this family liability policy. Yet, he used it daily.

It is the clear intent of such provisions to protect the insurance companies from inadequate premiums for the automobiles which they cover. See in general 6C Appleman Insurance, Section 4455, which states at page 552:

The purpose of a "drive other cars" clause is to provide coverage to an insured and others for the occasional and infrequent driving of vehicles other than those insured by the policy. It is not designed to relieve the insured of the necessity of paying premiums upon vehicles regularly used by him. 650 F.2d 98, at 100.

The court continued:

Largin was in the car everyday, driving to and from work, and driving as he needed to in connection with his duties as sales manager. This is not the unusual, temporary or sporadic use contemplated in the policy as a justification for coverage of the non-owned vehicle. Rather, it is regular, day by day use and thus falls within the exception of coverage to non-owned vehicles in this automobile liability policy. 650 F.2d 98 at 101.

As in the Benjamin case, Mr. Finlayson was in his truck everyday, driving to and from work, and driving as he needed to in connection with his duties as a mechanic and laborer with FINCO Brothers, Inc. His use of the truck was not the unusual, temporary or sporadic use contemplated in the policy as a justification for coverage of the non-owned vehicle. Rather, it was the regular, day by day use excluded by the policy.

Another case which involved the daily use of a company vehicle by an employee was Seaboard Fire & Marine Insurance Company v. Gibbs, 4th Cir., 392 F.2d 793 (1968). In Seaboard, the employee was supplied with a company vehicle for his daily use. The car was sometimes left with the employee overnight and on weekends. The court held that the "non-owned vehicle" exclusion of the employee's personal liability policy excluded coverage for injuries caused by the employee while driving the company vehicle.

Similarly, in Federated American Insurance Company v. Hargrove, 3 Wash. App. 541, 475 P.2d 913 (1970), the court affirmed the trial court's denial of coverage under an employee's personal automobile liability policy where the employee was involved in an accident while he was driving for his employer. Considering a policy provision very similar to the one at issue in this case, the court, in upholding summary judgment in favor of the insurance company, held that the truck was owned by the

driver's employer and that it was furnished for his regular and frequent use on the job. Since it was furnished for the insured's regular and frequent use, it came within the exclusion of the policy, even though it was furnished for the specific purpose of pursuing work for the employer. The court stated:

We are satisfied from an examination of the records that there is no question but that the truck was owned by Fife Lumber and was furnished for the regular and frequent use of the appellant Hargrove. Since it was furnished for the regular and frequent use of the insured, the truck did not qualify as a non-owned vehicle under the conditions of the policy. 475 P.2d 912 at 913.

Another case with similar facts and policy provisions is Kern v. Liberty Mutual Insurance Company, 8th Cir., 398 F.2d 958 (1968). In Kern, the insured was a licensed chauffeur who, as one of his duties, drove a vehicle owned by the Ferguson Church of the Nazarene over a scheduled route, on a temporary or fill in basis in the absence of the regular chauffeur. The substitute driving occurred quite frequently-sometimes two or three days a week. The insured had never used the vehicle for personal or private purposes, or for any purpose other than as stated. In addressing the issue of whether the vehicle under the circumstances was furnished or available for the insured's regular use, the court, in upholding judgment in favor of the insurance company, said:

We have no hesitancy in expressing complete agreement with the trial court that

such non-owned vehicle was excluded from coverage under the policy because it was "furnished or available for the regular use of the insured". 398 F.2d 958 at 962.

In Kern, the insured used the church vehicle much less frequently than Mr. Finlayson used the FINCO Brothers, Inc. pick-up truck. The Kern insured used the vehicle two or three times a week whereas Mr. Finlayson used his vehicle daily. The Kern insured, without dispute, used the vehicle only for church business whereas Mr. Finlayson also used his truck for personal use occasionally. Even under the more restrictive use of the vehicle by the Kern insured, the court found that his personal liability automobile policy did not extend to the accident.

In this case, testimony has been offered by Mr. Finlayson, and his relatives, that Mr. Finlayson had almost exclusive use of the truck (Max Finlayson depo. pg. 54; Neal Finlayson depo. pg. 19-20); he used the truck daily to go to and from work as well as doing work on the job; that he had blanket authority to use the vehicle for the purposes of employment and to get to and from work; that at the time of the accident, the defendant was supposed to be going to the shop, taking the company truck as was his usual custom. At the least, he was returning home from his employment.

The common element of the above-cited cases is not whether the vehicle is actually used for business as opposed to

personal purposes, but the regularity and availability of the vehicle for any use. If the insured drives an employer supplied vehicle on a regular basis, the non-owned vehicle exclusion encourages the employer to supply sufficient liability insurance to protect the public and his employees. In this case, the insurance policy applying to the FINCO truck did pay its benefits. The defendants, however, are seeking additional recovery. The contract made by Mr. Finlayson with Metropolitan was only intended to afford liability coverage for Mr. Finlayson's personal vehicles as listed in the insurance policy or as temporarily replaced. It is evident from both the policy provisions and the judicial interpretations of similar provisions, that Mr. Finlayson's use of the vehicle at the time of the accident is excluded from coverage under the Metropolitan policy.

### POINT III

THE 1978 CHEVROLET PICK-UP TRUCK WAS BEING USED  
BY MR. FINLAYSON WITHIN THE SCOPE, COURSE, AND  
AUTHORIZATION OF HIS BUSINESS USE.

The Metropolitan Insurance policy issued to Mr. Finlayson also excludes from coverage use of a vehicle while the insured is employed or otherwise engaged in a business or occupation. The policy states:

This policy does not apply . . . under the automobile liability coverage and, except with respect to bodily injury through being struck by an automobile, under the automobile medical expense coverage:

(f) to a non-owned automobile while maintained or used by any person while such person is employed or otherwise engaged in any other business or occupation, but this exclusion does not apply to a private passenger automobile operated or occupied by the named insured or his private chauffeur or domestic servant, or a utility trailer used therewith.

The testimony of the Finlaysons clearly establishes that Mr. Finlayson was employed at the time of the March 30, 1982 accident. The truck was used by Mr. Finlayson in the regular course of the FINCO business. Max Finlayson considered Mr. Finlayson to be on duty at all times, including his trips to and from work (Max Finlayson depo. pg. 35). Mr. Finlayson was required to take his truck home in order to answer calls for assistance from drivers of the corporation long haul rig (Max Finlayson depo. pg. 24). The truck was the repository for the tools Neal might need doing work for the corporation.

It is also evident from the testimony of the deponents that the truck was supplied for the benefit of the employer. Because of the nature of defendant Finlayson's work with FINCO Brothers, he was required to have a vehicle available at all

times to service other vehicles owned by the corporation and to go to numerous job sites maintained by the corporation (Neal Finlayson depo. pg. 14; Max Finlayson depo. pgs. 24 and 28). All of these factors indicate that the truck was to be used while Mr. Finlayson was employed.

Just prior to the accident, Mr. Finlayson testified that he had finished work at the AFR Bean Plant located at 2401 West 1100 South at about 11:00 a.m. Max Finlayson told him there was additional work at FINCO storage area (Neal Finlayson depo. pg. 27; Max Finlayson depo. pg. 38). Mr. Finlayson informed Max Finlayson (his father) that he would stop for something to eat and then proceed to the shop (Neal Finlayson depo. pg. 25; Max Finlayson depo. pg. 38). Mr. Finlayson and his brother stopped at the bar. Tom Finlayson stated that he and his brother left the bar and "proceeded to go home by way of the other shop, you know, to see if anybody was there", (Tom Finlayson depo. pg. 20). The insurance policy which applied to the vehicle owned by the employer, has already paid substantial monies in this case under the business insurance policy.

There can be no question but that the defendant Finlayson under these facts was driving the truck at the time of the accident while employed. The truck was provided to him not only for travel between jobs, but also for his travel to and from



work. At the time of the accident, Mr. Finlayson and his brother were heading home by way of the other shop.

#### CONCLUSION